IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. SC11-1136 [TFB No. 2010-31,479(09B)]

v.

CLINT JOHNSON,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

PATRICIA ANN TORO SAVITZ Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 1000 Legion Place, Suite 1625 Orlando, Florida 32801-1050 (407) 425-5424 Attorney No. 559547

KENNETH LAWRENCE MARVIN Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Attorney No. 200999

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Attorney No. 123390

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter originated as a result of The Florida Bar filing a Petition for Emergency Suspension against respondent on March 31, 2011, in Supreme Court Case Number SC11-622. The bar's petition, which was supported by the affidavit and attachments of Clark V. Pearson, Certified Public Accountant and Chief Auditor of The Florida Bar, alleged that respondent was causing great public harm by misappropriating trust funds. The Court entered an Emergency Suspension Order on April 11, 2011. Respondent filed a Motion for Dissolution and The Honorable Terence R. Perkins was assigned to hear the matter. Subsequent to the hearing held on April 28, 2011, the referee filed his report recommending modification of the emergency suspension. The Florida Bar filed a Petition for Review of the Report of Referee. On November 3, 2011, the Court disapproved the Report of Referee and ordered that the emergency suspension order remain in full force and effect until further order of the Court.

On June 10, 2011, the bar filed its complaint against respondent, which was subsequently assigned Supreme Court Case No. SC11-1136. The Honorable Terence R. Perkins was appointed as referee on June 20, 2011. The final hearing as to the evidence and sanction was held on September 1, 2011, September 2, 2011, September 7, 2011 and September 13, 2011.

1

The referee entered his final Report of Referee on September 19, 2011, finding respondent guilty of violating the following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar: 4-1.15 [Safekeeping Property]; 4-5.3(b)(2) [Responsibilities Regarding Nonlawyer Assistants]; 5-1.1(a)(1) [Trust Account Required; Commingling Prohibited]; 5-1.1(b) [Application of Trust Funds or Property to Specific Purpose]; and, 5-1.2(a), (b), (c), and (d) [Trust Accounting Records and Procedures]. Due to the referee's finding that respondent's actions were negligent rather than intentional, he found respondent not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(c), which states that an attorney shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. The referee further recommended that respondent receive a six month suspension, nunc pro tunc to April 11, 2011; a one year period of probation involving monitoring of respondent's trust account, LOMAS, Trust Accounting Workshop, and Ethics School; and payment of the disciplinary costs. (ROR-46-47).

At its October 2011 meeting, the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar considered this case. The Board voted to petition for review of the Report of Referee and to seek at least a three year suspension from the practice of law. Thereafter, the bar filed its Petition for Review on or about November 10, 2011.

Throughout this proceeding, respondent filed several motions requesting an order to allow him to continue disbursing or withdrawing funds from his frozen

trust and operating accounts. On August 31, 2011, this Court denied respondent's Supplemental Emergency Motion Requesting the Florida Supreme Court to Relinquish Jurisdiction to the Referee in the above Captioned Cases to Enter Orders on an Interim Basis Solely Relating to Financial Disbursement and Withdrawals from Respondent's Trust and Operating Accounts. On November 3, 2011, this Court granted respondent's Unopposed Motion for Entry of an Order Allowing Transfer of all Bank of America Accounts Under the Johnson Law Group PLLC From Bank of America, N.A. to M&I Bank.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent is the sole managing attorney and owner of The Johnson Law Group, located in Orlando, Florida. Respondent is only licensed to practice law in the State of Florida. Respondent's firm, The Johnson Law Group, had at one point approximately 13,200 debt management clients (B-Ex. 26, p. 41). Respondent maintained multiple trust accounts, all of which contained client funds (B-Ex. 22). In addition, respondent maintained multiple operating accounts (B-Ex. 22).

The Florida Bar received an Attorney Trust Account Overdraft Report from Bank of America dated May 4, 2010 regarding trust checks respondent issued to clients representing settlement proceeds from his TA-1 account (B-Ex. 7). As a result, the bar initiated a compliance audit. As part of the audit, respondent was served with a subpoena duces tecum issued by the grievance committee which required respondent to produce complete trust records for all his accounts. Despite having numerous trust accounts, respondent failed to produce complete trust records for all his accounts. Due to respondent's failure to fully comply with the subpoena duces tecum, the bar's auditor was only able to conduct a compliance audit on respondent's trust account involving the NSF trust checks, referred to as the TA-1 account (B-Ex. 22; T-97). The only compliance audit to be completed on any of respondent's trust accounts was performed by the bar's auditor (ROR-6).

The bar's audit revealed that there were numerous and ongoing shortages in respondent's TA-1 trust account for 22 of the 23 months of the audit period of January 1, 2009 through November 30, 2010 (B-Ex. 22; T-106). The shortages in the TA-1 trust account were based on respondent's own trust records and ranged from \$5,066.60 up to \$153,912.03 (B-Ex. 22; T-107). Respondent's records also revealed at least 14 separate occasions in which there was a negative daily balance, as reflected in respondent's bank statements for the TA-1 account (B-Ex. 14, 22). Based on respondent's records, his TA-1 account did not contain sufficient funds to meet the obligations to respondent's clients (B-Ex. 13, 22). The audit also established that there were multiple instances of misappropriation by respondent from his TA-1 account. Respondent took funds to which he was not entitled and there were instances in which respondent took funds in advance of the deposit of proceeds and instances in which respondent removed funds twice on behalf of the same client (B-Ex. 22; T-144, 155).

The audit further revealed that respondent made more than 30 improper and unauthorized transfers from his TA-1 trust account in order to cover shortages in his main operating account (OA-1) (B-Ex. 22; T-142-143). According to the records, once the trust funds were in the OA-1 account, respondent used the funds on multiple occasions for personal expenses such as payments for luxury cars and a \$20,000.00 transfer into his personal money market account (B-Ex. 16; T-148-154). The bar's audit also revealed that there were large undocumented transfers from respondent's numerous other trust and operating accounts (B-Ex. 22).

Respondent maintains that all the shortages in his TA-1 trust account were due to the theft and mismanagement committed by his trusted long-time former employee, Deanna Cintron (T-480, 482-483, 487, 490-491, 496). It was respondent's position that there was no intentional or knowing misuse of client funds and that no clients were harmed as a result of the mismanagement and theft by respondent's employee (T-495). During Ms. Cintron's testimony at the final hearing, she admitted to stealing money from respondent's OA-1 account by using an ATM card for that account and to concealing bank statements and information regarding trust transfers concerning the respondent's various bank accounts (T-260; 277, 278). Respondent also admitted in his testimony that he failed to maintain the required trust records and failed to perform the required trust procedures (T496-499).

Respondent hired a former bar auditor to bring the records for the TA-1 account into compliance with Chapter 5 regarding trust accounts (R-Ex. 5). Respondent also deposited funds into this trust account to cover the shortages (T-118). The TA-1 account was in balance and in compliance as of March 31, 2011 (T-118).

The referee's report states that the bar's auditor was the only expert to complete a full compliance audit of respondent's TA-1 account, which was the subject of the overdraft reports (ROR-5-6). The referee found that respondent's trust records and procedures were woefully inadequate (ROR-27). In addition, the referee cited respondent's failure to regularly and directly supervise his trust accounts as well as respondent's failure to strictly comply with the requirements of Chapter 5 regarding trust accounts as the basis for the situation in which respondent's employee was able to steal money (ROR-27). The referee specifically found that the responsibility for full compliance with Chapter 5 regarding trust accounts rests solely with the lawyer (ROR-27). The referee further found that respondent's actions with his trust account were negligent rather than intentional and that there was no evidence that respondent had the intent to misappropriate trust funds (ROR-29).

At the same time, the referee found that respondent committed technical misappropriation by taking his fees from trust prematurely (ROR-9). The referee's report cited the expert opinion of the bar's auditor that there was misappropriation by respondent by taking fees prior to the corresponding deposit (ROR-6-7, 29; B-Ex. 22; T-154). Respondent, as the "captain of the ship," allowed transfers to occur

into and out of his trust account. The transfers permitted the balance in respondent's trust account to fall below the required balance necessary to pay all his clients all of their money (ROR-26). The opinion of the bar's auditor, as referenced in the referee's report, was that the shortages in the trust account created a situation in which there were insufficient funds to satisfy respondent's obligations to his clients (ROR-7). The referee found that in such a situation, even during a short period of time, shortages would have to be covered by relying on deposits from other clients (ROR-26). The referee acknowledged the sanctity of trust accounts, stating that they cannot rely on this type of "ponzi scheme" funding (ROR-26). The referee also specifically found respondent fully responsible for the transfers which occurred on his watch (ROR-26).

The referee fully accepted the testimony of respondent and Ms. Cintron, despite evidence which established numerous contradictions in their testimony concerning the details of the theft and mismanagement (B-Ex. 27, p. 32; T-312, 313; B-Ex. 27, p. 38; T-310-312; B-Ex. 26, p. 223-225; T-485, 493-496). The referee found respondent to be negligent in his supervision of Ms. Cintron (ROR-42).

The referee also failed to find certain aggravating factors [9.22(b) dishonest or selfish motive and 9.22(e) bad faith obstruction of the disciplinary process by intentionally failing to comply with rules or orders of the disciplinary agency] presented by the bar. This was contrary to the evidence and testimony, which included numerous examples of respondent's personal use of trust funds and his failure to fully comply with the bar's subpoena to produce complete trust records. The evidence and testimony also included respondent's failure to comply with the Court's order of emergency suspension by not promptly notifying his clients of the suspension (ROR-36-37; B-Ex. 22; T-154).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The referee in this matter erred by finding respondent not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(c) (for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation). This finding should not be upheld as it is clearly erroneous and without support in the record. Further, the referee's report contains numerous findings which clearly establish violations of Rule 4-8.4(c) and intent as set forth in applicable case law. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Riggs</u>, 944 So.2d 167, 171 (Fla. 2006), the Court held that knowingly or negligently engaging in sloppy bookkeeping amounts to intent under Rule 4-8.4(c). The facts and findings in this matter support respondent's gross negligence and misappropriation and this Court should carefully examine the record in regard to respondent's violation of Rule 4-8.4(c).

The bar maintains that the referee, contrary to the evidence and testimony in the record, failed to find certain aggravating factors [9.22(b) dishonest or selfish motive; and 9.22(e) bad faith obstruction of the disciplinary process by intentionally failing to comply with rules or orders of the disciplinary agency]. There was extensive testimony and evidence to clearly establish respondent's personal use of trust funds on multiple occasions as well as his failure to fully comply with the bar's subpoena and numerous requests to produce full and complete trust records as required by Chapter 5 regarding trust accounts. The evidence and testimony also clearly supported respondent's failure to comply with the Court's order of emergency suspension by not promptly notifying his clients of the suspension. Finally, the bar maintains that the case law and Standards for Imposing Lawyer Discipline support at least a three year suspension for respondent's admitted misconduct in this matter.

ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u>

THE REFEREE ERRED BY FINDING RESPONDENT NOT GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULE 4-8.4(c) IN LIGHT OF THE FINDINGS IN THE REPORT OF REFEREE AS WELL AS THE RECORD EVIDENCE.

The Court has stated that a referee's findings of fact regarding guilt carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. <u>The Florida Bar v. Barrett</u>, 897 So.2d 1269, 1275 (Fla. 2005). The referee in this matter erred by finding respondent not guilty of violating R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(c) (for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, deceit, fraud, or misrepresentation) as there is competent, substantial evidence and testimony in the record, including respondent's own admissions, to support respondent's misconduct with his trust account involving knowingly or negligently engaging in sloppy bookkeeping. Further, the Report of Referee specifically contains numerous examples of respondent's negligent conduct with his trust accounts. Thus, the referee's finding should not be upheld as it is clearly erroneous.

Intent is a required element to support a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c) regarding dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation. This element may be established by showing that an attorney knowingly or negligently engaged in sloppy bookkeeping.

It may also be established by showing that an attorney knowingly assigned his trust account responsibilities to a nonlawyer employee and subsequently failed to supervise the employee. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Riggs</u>, 944 So.2d 167, 171 (Fla. 2006), the Court held that an attorney's failure to supervise his employee constituted intent because he knowingly assigned his trust account responsibilities to the employee and then failed to manage her activities. The Court specifically stated that "[k]nowingly or negligently engaging in sloppy bookkeeping amounts to intent under Rule 4-8.4(c)." Id. at 171.

The referee failed to consider this Court's holdings as found in <u>Riggs</u> regarding respondent's intent. Instead, the referee cited <u>The Florida Bar v. Burke</u>, 578 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 1991). Despite specifically finding that respondent was the "captain of the ship" and "unquestionably responsible" for the sanctity of his trust accounts (ROR-26), the referee failed to find that respondent had the requisite intent to misappropriate trust funds (ROR-29). In addition, the referee's report repeatedly emphasized that respondent improperly relied on his employee, Deanna Cintron, to manage his trust accounts. Respondent failed to properly supervise Ms. Cintron after delegating authority to her to manage and balance his trust accounts (ROR-27).

The referee also found that respondent failed to regularly and directly

supervise his trust accounts and failed to require strict compliance by his staff with the provisions in Chapter 5 regarding trust accounts. The referee's report referenced that respondent's trust records and procedures were "woefully" inadequate (ROR-27-29). Respondent engaged in the same conduct as Riggs wherein he knowingly assigned his trust account responsibilities to a nonlawyer employee and subsequently failed to supervise the employee. Respondent's conduct was ongoing and not isolated in nature. Thus, the findings in the Report of Referee in this matter clearly establish intent and support a violation R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(c) by respondent.

The referee's report also found that respondent committed technical misappropriation by prematurely taking his fees from trust (ROR-9). As the "captain of the ship," respondent allowed transfers to occur into and out of his trust account for which he, not his employee, was fully responsible. The transfers caused the balance in respondent's trust account to be insufficient to cover all his trust obligations to all his clients (ROR-26). Even during a short period of time, such shortages would have to be covered by relying on deposits from other clients (ROR-26). The referee acknowledged the sanctity of trust accounts, stating that they cannot rely on this type of "ponzi scheme" funding (ROR-26). This "ponzi scheme" funding establishes the requisite intent under the applicable case law.

In addition to the Report of Referee, the evidence and testimony in the record also supports a finding of intent and a violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(c) by respondent. There is no dispute that shortages existed in respondent's TA-1 account. There is also no dispute that for an extended period of time, respondent failed to follow trust accounting procedures, failed to maintain adequate records, and engaged in sloppy bookkeeping. Respondent's misconduct was therefore intentional, whether he personally caused the trust account violations or whether he grossly neglected the supervision of his trust accounts.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Fredericks</u>, 731 So.2d 1249 (Fla.1999), the Court specifically stated that "in order to satisfy the element of intent it must only be shown that the conduct was deliberate or knowing." <u>Id</u>. at 1252. Respondent's own admissions clearly establish that respondent knowingly or negligently engaging in sloppy bookkeeping (ROR-21). Respondent admitted that he was the "captain of the ship" for his law firm, that he failed to maintain the proper trust records and procedures during the audit period, and that he failed to continually and directly supervise his trust accounts. Such acknowledged conduct, especially over an extended period of time, clearly amounts to intent under Rule 4-8.4(c). Based on the foregoing analysis alone, the bar submits that respondent should be found guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(c).

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Watson</u>, Supreme Court Case Number SC09-2022, opinion issued December 8, 2011, rehearing time not yet expired, the Court disapproved the Report of Referee recommending a 90-day suspension for intentional trust violations and imposed a three year suspension. The Court held that an attorney's conduct is intentional if the record shows that the attorney deliberately or knowingly engaged in the activity at issue. Consequently, such intentional conduct would support a finding of guilt regarding rule 4-8.4(c). The Court reaffirmed its holdings regarding intent in <u>Fredericks</u> and <u>Riggs</u>.

In the present matter, respondent knowingly engaged in activity involving negligent and sloppy bookkeeping with his trust accounts over a long period of time. This also included respondent's delegation of trust account responsibilities to a nonlawyer employee and subsequently failing to supervise the employee. Respondent's intentional conduct is supported by his own admissions as well as the evidence and testimony in the record, all of which support the violation of 4-8.4(c), consistent with the holding in <u>Watson</u>.

In further support of the violation of 4-8.4(c), the bar points to the expert opinion of Clark V. Pearson, Certified Public Accountant and Chief Auditor for The Florida Bar. Mr. Pearson was the only expert in this matter to complete a Chapter 5 compliance audit pursuant to the provisions regarding trust accounts (ROR-6). It was Mr. Pearson's opinion that, based on the respondent's own records, there were multiple instances of misappropriation by the respondent from the TA-1 account (B-Ex. 22; T-94-95). The records provided to the bar in order to conduct the compliance audit were reviewed and prepared by Pedro Pizarro, Certified Public Accountant and former bar auditor who was hired by respondent to bring the records for the TA-1 account into compliance with Chapter 5 regarding trust accounts (R-Ex. 5).

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