IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE	FL	ORI	DA	BA	١R,

Complainant,

vs. CASE NO.: SC11-1136

[TFB NO.; 2011-31,479(09B)]

CLINT JOHNSON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

CHANDLER R. MULLER, of LAW OFFICES OF MULLER & SOMMERVILLE, P.A. 1150 Louisiana Ave., Suite 2 Post Office Box 2128 Winter Park, FL 32790-2128 Telephone: (407) 647-8200 Facsimile: (407- 645-3000

Florida Bar No. 112381

DAVID A. HENSON, of DAVID A. HENSON, P.A. 4 West Main Street, Suite 9 Brevard, NC 28712 Telephone: (828) 877-6334

Telephone: (828) 877-6334 Facsimile: (828) 877-6374 Florida Bar No. 330620

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In Point I, Respondent Johnson maintains the referee committed no error in finding him not guilty of engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, deceit, fraud, or misrepresentation given the lack of clear and convincing evidence that he knowingly and deliberately engaged in misappropriation conduct or, in any way, intended to misappropriate client money. The referee was correct to recognize a distinction between trust violations rooted in negligence, as opposed to intentional conduct. The referee was correct to not impute dishonest intent to Johnson when there was no clear and convincing evidence that he that he knowingly or deliberately engaged in negligent bookkeeping. Lastly, the referee was correct to refrain from using the perfectly ethical act of delegating trust account responsibilities to a trusted employee as if the act of delegation would alone satisfy the "knowing" or "deliberate" intent requirement of Rule 4-8.4(c).

In Point II, the Respondent maintains the referee committed no error associated with failing to find, as aggravators, that he acted with a dishonest or selfish motive and bad-faith obstruction of the disciplinary proceeding; and committed no error associated with finding the flip-side mitigating factors of absence of dishonest or selfish motive and full, free disclosure to

the disciplinary board or cooperative attitude toward proceedings. There is evidence to support the referee's presumptively correct finding that Johnson endeavored in good faith to cooperate with The Bar during the course of an investigation that posed formidable obstacles for all involved because of the need to reconstruct missing trust account records before they could be produced; and because of how Johnson's law firm was intertwined with his debt-management business and its thousands of debt-clients.

In Point III, Johnson maintains the referee's recommended discipline is entirely appropriate; and supported by the applicable Sanction Std. and existing case law applicable to an instance of negligent misappropriation and failure to supervise a trusted employee who mishandled his trust account(s), embezzled from him, and managed to conceal her actions for approximately 2 years. As soon as Johnson learned of his trust account problems, he acted quickly to reconstruct his records, identify missing funds, correct the bookkeeping mistakes, terminate the employment of his treacherous and incompetent employee, and protect his clients from being harmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE REFEREE DID NOT ERR IN FINDING RESPONDENT NOT GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULE 4-8.4(c) WHEN THE BAR'S EVIDENCE DID NOT ESTABLISH HE DELIBERATELY OR KNOWINGLY PARTICPATED IN THE MISHANDLING OF TRUST MONIES.

Pursuant to Rule 3-7.7(c)(5), it is The Bar's burden in this review proceeding "to demonstrate that a report of a referee sought to be reviewed is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified." At page 12 of its Initial Brief, The Bar correctly cites to Florida Bar v. Barrett, 897 So.2d 1269, 1275 (Fla. 2005) for the proposition that a referee's findings of fact regarding guilt carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. The referee's finding that Mr. Johnson's misconduct was not deliberate or knowing is a factual finding which must be upheld if it is supported by competent, substantial evidence. See, Florida Bar v. Watson, 2011 WL 6090078 (Fla. December 8, 2011); Florida Bar v. Nicnick, 963 So.2d 219 (Fla. 2007).

It is undisputed that during the relevant audit period [January 1, 2009 through November 2010], Respondent Johnson failed to maintain adequate records, failed to follow trust accounting procedures, and failed to properly

supervise his trust account(s). While there was conflicting evidence as to the amount of actual shortages in the TA-1 account, the account did incur shortages that were fully rectified by Mr. Johnson by December of 2010. (T 117-118, 131, 144, 182, 432-434). It is also equally undisputed that during the very same time frame, Johnson himself was victimized by a trusted bookkeeper/office manager who used her position of trust and financial access to incompetently manage his law firm trust account, steal from his operating account, and then conceal her incompetence and treachery for two (2) years or more by transferring money around and hiding financial information. (T 259-273). Once trust account reconstruction efforts enabled Johnson to identify missing fund amounts, he promptly replaced those missing funds. No client of Johnson's has complained or suffered injury.

Following the disciplinary hearing, the referee determined Mr. Johnson's professional misconduct regarding his TA-1 account, was rooted in negligence as opposed to intentional and knowing conduct. (ROR-29, 41-47). In fact, the referee specifically found Johnson did *not* know Ms. Cintron was mishandling the TA-1 account, concealing trust account records, not complying with trust accounting rules and procedures, and thwarting accounting reconciliation efforts until such time as the true nature and extent of her misconduct became revealed by account reconstruction

efforts commenced subsequent to The Bar's initiation of an investigation into 2 bounced checks. (ROR-28, 29). The referee further found The Bar's evidence had failed to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that he had deliberately or knowingly engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, deceit, fraud, or misrepresentation; or that he had any intent to misappropriate trust funds. (ROR-28, 29). The referee noted the total absence of evidence that Johnson had intentionally or knowingly participated in Ms. Cintron's dishonest, fraudulent or deceitful conduct. (ROR-29).

For its part, The Bar maintains that to prove a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c), in the context of trust account shortages,—all it was required to show was that, as the proverbial "captain of the ship", Mr. Johnson negligently supervised his bookkeeper and thereby "...allowed [improper] transfers to occur into and out of his trust account for which he, not his employee, was fully responsible." (Initial Brief, pg. 14). According to The Bar, it was the referee's duty to conclude Johnson intentionally and dishonestly misappropriated client funds—and to, therefore, recommend he be disciplined just as if he had deliberately and knowingly stolen from his clients. Contrary to The Bar's position, however, it was not error for the referee to draw a distinction between trust violations rooted in negligence, as opposed to intentional conduct. Therefore, the referee did not err in failing

to find that Johnson had the requisite intent to misappropriate trust funds when there was no clear and convincing proof he was deliberately or knowingly engaged in misappropriation conduct; and no clear and convincing proof he knew Ms. Cintron was mishandling the TA-1 account and making all sorts of improper transfers in and out of the account.

At the hearing level, The Bar's proof burden for alleged disciplinary violations is the rigorous clear-and-convincing standard. See, Florida Bar v. Burke, 578 So.2d 1009, 1102 (Fla. 1991). It is the function of the assigned referee to weigh the evidence and determine its sufficiency. Florida Bar v. Weiss, 586 So.2d 1051, 1053 (Fla. 1991). In a case involving allegations of trust account shortages, the question of appropriate disciplinary punishment doesn't begin and end solely with the matter of whether The Bar can demonstrate that shortages occurred. Rather, the question of appropriate disciplinary punishment necessarily focuses on determining the circumstances of any misappropriation. See, Florida Bar v. Barley, 831 So.2d 163, 171 (Fla. 2003). After weighing the evidence and determining its sufficiency—the referee determined The Bar had failed to clearly and convincingly prove that Johnson intentionally or knowingly made improper and untimely disbursements from his trust account, or in any way intended to misappropriate client money. While The Bar undoubtedly disagrees with

the referee's fact-finding on intent, nowhere in its Initial Brief has it cited this Court to any record basis whereby it clearly and convincingly proved Johnson intentionally or knowingly made improper disbursements from his trust account; intentionally or knowingly diverted client monies to his own uses; intentionally or knowingly participated in Ms. Cintron's misconduct; deliberately or knowingly engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, deceit, fraud, or misrepresentation; or had any contemporaneous knowledge Ms. Cintron was mishandling the TA-1 account, concealing trust account records, concealing bank statements, and not complying with trust accounting rules and procedures. Instead, The Bar has cobbled together an argument which erodes any meaningful distinction between negligent conduct and deliberate conduct by employing a legal fiction which imputes dishonest intent to Johnson purely because he negligently supervised his embezzling, poor-performing bookkeeper.

At pages 13-16 of the Initial Brief, The Bar cites to Florida Bar v. Riggs, 944 So.2d 167, 171 (Fla. 2006); Florida Bar v. Fredericks, 731 So.2d 1249 (Fla. 1999); and Florida Bar v. Watson, supra, to support its claim that it clearly and convincingly proved Johnson to be guilty of intentionally misappropriating client funds notwithstanding the absence of any evidence he had knowledge of Cintron's mishandling of his TA-1 account and her

failure to comply with trust accounting rules and procedures. While Riggs, supra, contains some language which initially appears to support The Bar's argument [for equating negligent trust account supervision with dishonest intent]—a closer reading reveals it to be materially distinguishable from Johnson's disciplinary case. Similar to the case, sub judice, The Bar filed a Complaint alleging Riggs had engaged in misconduct involving client funds, committed acts of dishonesty and misrepresentation, and violated trust account requirements. And, when The Bar's investigation of Riggs' trust account revealed a substantial shortage, coupled with negligent supervision of his paralegal and sloppy bookkeeping, he likewise claimed he had been the victim of a dishonest former employee who had stolen money. It is at this point, however, that the similarities between Riggs and the case sub judice come to an end. At the disciplinary hearing, Riggs claimed most of the shortage was due to the criminal conduct of his former paralegal, Tammy Campbell. There was additional evidence that over a period of about 4 months, Riggs had multiple trust checks returned for insufficient funds. There was further evidence he was commingling funds; placing client escrow funds into his operating and savings accounts; and making numerous unexplained online transfers of funds between accounts. Despite the wide spectrum of trust account mismanagement, the only misconduct he appears

to have directly attributed to Ms. Campbell was her action of supposedly absconding with client money. In the wake of determining that some \$118,000 of one client's funds was missing, Riggs made only a token effort to make the injured client whole. After weighing the evidence and determining its sufficiency, the referee found Riggs had engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation because he had deliberately or knowingly engaged in negligent bookkeeping. However, quite unlike the case sub judice, the referee did not find Riggs to be the blind-sided victim of a long-time trusted employee who violated that trust, turned his accounts into a quasi-Ponzi scheme, and left his bookkeeping system in shambles as she sought to conceal her derelict bookkeeping performance and outright thefts. On review, Riggs disputed the referee's presumptively-correct finding that he had violated Rule 4-8.4(c) by acting with dishonest intent—claiming his failure to supervise Campbell was unintentional conduct on his part in stark contrast to her proven theft conduct. This Court found Riggs' argument flawed—noting: (1) the referee had never made the fact-finding that Campbell was the one who had taken the missing client funds despite Riggs' ongoing assertions of that as "fact"; and (2) the record evidence did not otherwise establish Riggs had even been the victim of an embezzling employee. Riggs, supra at 171. Further

support for the referee's finding that Riggs had deliberately or knowingly engaged in negligent bookkeeping was furnished by his failure to alert The Bar to the NSF checks he was writing over a period of about 4 months; his act of having set up his real estate trust account with prohibited overdraft protection; and his failure to have directed his bank to notify The Bar in the event of a dishonored trust account check, as required. Riggs, supra at 169.

Even apart from the significant factual and case-posture differences described above, it is erroneous to view Riggs as standing for the sweeping proposition that any time an attorney has negligently supervised a bookkeeper or accountant carrying out trust account responsibilities the attorney will necessarily be guilty of engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, in the event that trust violations, including shortages, occur. Under Riggs, supra at 171, sloppy or negligent bookkeeping amounts to dishonest intent under Rule 4-8.4(c) only when the attorney has deliberately or knowingly engaged in sloppy or negligent bookkeeping. When affirming the referee's finding that Riggs had acted with the requisite dishonest intent, this Court specifically cited to Florida Bar v. Smith, 866 So.2d 41, 46 (Fla. 2004),--thus indicating it was continuing to adhere to the long-established principle that requires any finding of dishonest or fraudulent intent under Rule 4-8.4(c) to be tied to

deliberate or knowing violation conduct by the attorney. See also, Florida Bar v. Fredericks, supra; Florida Bar v. Watson, supra. Stated differently, Riggs wasn't found to have acted with dishonest intent just because he had failed to properly supervise his paralegal's trust account activities. Rather, he was found to have deliberately and knowingly engaged in the violation conduct in question, i.e., negligent bookkeeping. Riggs, supra at 171. In contrast, the referee below made the well-supported fact-findings that Mr. Johnson lacked any contemporaneous knowledge that his TA-1 account was being mismanaged in violation of Chapter 5; and he had not knowingly or deliberately participated in Ms. Cintron's misconduct. Consequently, Mr. Johnson, unlike Riggs, did not knowingly or deliberately engage in negligent bookkeeping. The referee below was also correct to acknowledge that "[d]elegation is a necessary evil for most lawyers", and to reject The Bar's push to treat the perfectly ethical act of delegating trust account responsibilities to a trusted employee as if it was a form of violation activity that would alone satisfy the "knowing" or "deliberate" intent requirement of Rule 4-8.4(c) should negligent bookkeeping issues ever subsequently arise involving that employee. (ROR-27).

Having considered the conflicting testimony and evidence, and having fundamentally determined Johnson to be "guilty of negligence but no more",

in his multiple trust violations (including the *negligent* misappropriation of client funds), the referee rejected The Bar's argument that Johnson's professional misconduct warranted presumptive disbarment, per Sanction Std. 4.11. (ROR-29-31). Due to the lack of convincing evidence he had the intent to misappropriate or had violated Rule 4-8.4(c), the referee concluded his misconduct more fittingly came within Sanction Std. 4.12. (ROR-29-31). In addressing how he came to ultimately recommend a 6-month suspension coupled with probation, the referee noted that suspending Johnson would be generally consistent with the "grossly negligent" trust violation cases of Florida Bar v. Neu, 597 So.2d 266 (Fla. 1996), (6-month suspension for negligently commingling personal and client funds); Florida Bar v. Weiss, 586 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1991), (6-month suspension for failing to properly supervise accountant's handling of firm trust accounts); Florida Bar v. Burke, 578 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 1991), (91-day suspension coupled with retaking the ethics exam for negligent handling of client funds unaccompanied by any dishonest intent); Florida Bar v. Mason, 828 So.2d 985 (Fla. 2002), (2-year suspension imposed for *intentional* misappropriation over an extended time period, albeit without any intent to steal); and the unreported disciplinary case of Florida Bar v. August J. Stanton, Jr., Case No. SC06-408, (private admonishment for misconduct arising from the negligent

failure to properly supervise a trusted employee who used her delegated authority to mismanage the trust account and embezzle money over a period of roughly 6 years).

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